

# Contents

Welcome to CoPilot Truck   Mobile!	1
Safety Warning	2
Getting Started	3
Requirements	3
Connecting Your Smartphone	
Installing CoPilot	
Software Activation	
Deactivation and License Upgrade	
Adding a Data Region	9
Region Selection	10
Changing the Voice Option At Any Time	10
Map Download To Your Smartphone	11
Data Selection Options	
Data Download Options	
CoPilot Quick Start Application Download	
POI Download Options	
Trip Transfer	22
Importing Custom Places	23
Using CoPilot for Guidance	27
Address Entry	28
Stop Menu Options	31
Entering a Home Address	34
Entering a Work Address	34
Favorites	35
Intersection	36
Contact Integration	36
Finding Points of Interest	
Picking Stops from the Map	
Start Driving!	41
Safety View	
Map Views	
Itinerary View	
Trip Editing	
Taking a Detour	
Selective Routing: Avoiding Roads	
Selective Routing: What Are Waypoints?	46

Getting ETA's and Distances	47
Saving a Current Location	48
Optimizing Your Stop Order	48
Options	49
GPS Options	49
Routing Options	51
Guidance Options	54
Map Options	54
Live Options	55
Upgrade License	55
Traffic Options	55
POI Alerts	56
CoPilot Modes	58
Trip Planning On Your Smartphone	59
Trip Planning On Your Desktop PC	61
Reference: CoPilot on Your Desktop	70
CoPilot Live Communications	75
Real-Time Traffic Information	78
CoPilot Technical Support	81
Using Help Files	
Software Registration	

# Welcome to CoPilot Truck | Mobile!

**CoPilot Truck | Mobile** is changing the way truck drivers work, making it possible for street-level directions to be generated on a mobile phone, anywhere, within seconds. CoPilot Truck | Mobile, the first navigation system specifically designed for company drivers, owner operators, and leased operators, is the only way to get truck-specific directions on Smartphones.

#### Stay on Truck-Legal Roads with CoPilot

CoPilot Truck | Mobile, now available for Windows<sup>®</sup> Mobile<sup>™</sup> -based Smartphones, provides turn-by-turn driving directions respecting commercial truck restrictions. CoPilot Truck | Mobile can be used in or out of the vehicle. There's no need to look at a printed map — you just listen and go!

#### **CoPilot Truck | Mobile Features**

- Spoken dock-to-dock directions
- Automatic route recalculation
- Detour around traffic and avoid roads
- Portable and easy to use
- Easy to see display screen
- Immediate access to up-to-date maps

#### CoPilot Truck | Mobile Includes...

- 6 million miles of U.S. roadways
- 1 million kilometers of Canadian roadways
- 13'6" height and 80,000 lb weight restrictions
- Hazmat and 53'/102" trailer restrictions
- Over 100 million North American addresses
- 3 million points-of-interest including truck stops, weight stations, and fuel locations
- 31,000 exit numbers

#### How CoPilot Uses GPS Technology

The Global Positioning System (GPS), developed by the U.S. Department of Defense, is a constellation of 24 satellites that orbit the Earth twice daily. Each satellite contains an atomic clock that is accurate to the nanosecond, and constantly emitting radio waves toward Earth. GPS sensors (hardware devices for receiving data) can receive these signals from the satellites. GPS relies on the fact that radio waves travel at the speed of light to calculate distances, and the exact location of the sensor is figured by combining the data received from four satellites.

Using the data from these four satellites, GPS is able to give you the latitude, longitude and elevation of your present location, and also your road speed and direction of travel on a route. Given the right conditions, a GPS sensor can identify your geographic position anywhere in the world within a few meters.

CoPilot uses the GPS positional data that it receives from your hardware unit to display your current position on a map as you drive. This is called "tracking". CoPilot also uses GPS data to guide you along a planned route if you enter a destination on your Smartphone. CoPilot guides you with audible prompts as well as on-screen directions as you drive.

#### **GPS Accuracy**

The GPS signal CoPilot receives from the constellation of satellites has a rated accuracy of within 5 - 10 meters. This means that 95% of the time the reported location is within 15 - 30 feet of your exact position. If CoPilot initially places you on the wrong road (this happens only rarely), keep driving and CoPilot will automatically correct itself and find your proper position.

Occasionally, CoPilot's GPS tracking will be less accurate or fail to work at all because your GPS receiver is unable to receive satellite signals. Heavy foliage, tall buildings, or any other structures obstructing communications will interfere with CoPilot's ability to track your location. Like your car radio, GPS tracking can also be affected by weather conditions if severe. CoPilot will continue tracking as soon as adequate signals are available. Despite these limitations, you can expect CoPilot to provide you with useable and accurate information most of the time. CoPilot will alert you if accurate information is unavailable.

# **Safety Warning**

# Always keep your hands on the steering wheel and eyes on the road when driving!

Do not use this product in any way that interferes with safe and attentive operation of a vehicle. When used in a vehicle, do not place the GPS receiver, antenna, power supply, or your computer where it may strike the driver or passengers if the vehicle turns sharply or stops abruptly. This product is designed, manufactured, and intended as an aid to planning and navigating routes. The accuracy of the map data, driving directions, and GPS tracking system is insufficient for this product to be used for autoated navigation or in any situation in which the failure of the product could lead directly to death, personal injury, or physical or environmental damage. The driver must remain alert at all times to actual road conditions and obey all posted signs and traffic regulations.

ALK Technologies assumes no responsibility for any damage or injury resulting from the use of this product.

# **Getting Started**

This *User's Guide* includes complete instructions for installing your CoPilot Truck | Mobile software, downloading map data to the Smartphone, and using CoPilot on your Smartphone to guide you to your destination or to plan trips.

Here are the steps you need to take to get up and running with CoPilot Truck | Mobile:

- Connect your Smartphone to your desktop/laptop.
- ✓ Install CoPilot to your desktop and Smartphone using the Product Key found on the printed CoPilot *Quick Start* or on the supplied Product Key card.
- On your desktop, create a map data region and download it to your Smartphone.
- Activate CoPilot on your Smartphone.
- Enter an address and Start Driving!

## **Desktop PC Requirements**

To install CoPilot Truck | Mobile on your desktop or laptop PC, you must have:

- Microsoft Windows 98, 2000, ME, XP, Windows NT<sup>®</sup> (4.0 or higher) or Windows Mobile 2003
- 400 MHz processor or better
- 16X CD-ROM or better
- 128 MB of RAM and a hard drive with at least 225 MB of available disk space
- Microsoft ActiveSync version 3.1 or later

#### **Smartphone and GPS Requirements**

- Smartphone 2002 or 2003
- Bluetooth GPS receiver

# Hardware Setup

**WARNING:** Never leave your Smartphone or GPS receiver in a closed vehicle that exceeds 140° F.

#### Configuring the Bluetooth GPS Receiver:

1. Switch on your Bluetooth GPS receiver by flipping the switch to 1. The green and blue lights should turn on if the GPS receiver is properly charged.

**Important:** Please charge the receiver for several hours before set-up using the supplied in-car charger.

 Launch CoPilot: From your home screen select Start > CoPilot. The GPS Status screen will be displayed.

NOTE: On the MPx220 select Start > Settings > Bluetooth > Bluetooth.

3. If Bluetooth does not have a green checkmark next to it (see picture below), select Menu > Turn On Bluetooth.



4. Press **Menu > Search for GPS** to search for your Bluetooth GPS receiver. When your receiver appears in the list, press **Select**.

After a few seconds the system should display 'GPS Signal: Found'. If after a few minutes the system has not found a GPS receiver, exit CoPilot, turn off the phone, turn off the GPS receiver, and then repeat steps 1 to 4.

**Trouble-shooting:** In the unlikely event that the system is still unable to find the GPS receiver, see *GPS Trouble-shooting*, p. 5.

5. Select Done. You are now ready to start navigating!

The small square on the bottom right of your screen in Guidance mode indicates your GPS 'fix' (see next page). Green is good, yellow is okay, and red means your GPS receiver does not have a fix.



To return to the GPS Status screen select **Menu > Options > GPS**.

**TIP:** Your GPS receiver won't function properly inside a building. Please be sure that the receiver has a clear line of sight to the sky, for example by placing it on a vehicle dashboard.

#### **GPS Trouble-shooting:**

If you still can't get a GPS signal, follow these steps and check the GPS status after each step:

- Go to Start > Settings > Bluetooth. Check that Bluetooth is set to "On" (not "Discoverable" or "Off"). Some Smartphones automatically turn off Bluetooth when memory resources are low. Bluetooth is usually turned back on when memory resources become available.
- 2. Go to **Start > Configurations > BTSerialPortSetup** and check that the Outbound COM port is checked.
- 3. Close CoPilot.
- 4. Turn the phone off.
- 5. Turn the phone on.
- 6. Go through the directions above from scratch.



In order to successfully transfer data from your desktop to your Smartphone, you must have *Microsoft ActiveSync 3.1* (or later) installed. This software is necessary to connect the two machines and is provided by your Smartphone manufacturer. If you did not receive this software with your mobile device, contact the distributor immediately.



1. When connecting your Smartphone, if you have not set up a partnership between your Smartphone and your desktop, you will be prompted to do so. This is not required. If you choose not to set up a partnership select **Guest** 

> partnership, and you will be logged in as a *Guest* and ready to transfer data between machines.

2. If you have set up a partnership in the past, or choose to do so at this point, be sure to allow your Smartphone to synchronize with your desktop or laptop prior to launching CoPilot.



Connect	ion Settings	×
	Click Get Connected to connect your mobile device to this computer.	
	Status: Waiting for device to connect Get Connected	1
IT Allo	w serial cable or infrared connection to this COM port:	
CO	IM1	]
Stat	us: COM port is available	
🔽 Allor	w USB connection with this desktop computer.	
Stat	us: USB is available	
	w network (Ethernet) and Remote Access Service (RAS) er connection with this desktop computer.	
Stat	us: Network connections are disabled	

**NOTE:** If your desktop/laptop computer does not seem to be recognizing the connection with your Smartphone, select **Connection Settings...** from the dropdown **File** menu, and make sure you're connected using the appropriate Port. Then click **Get Connected...** in the **File** menu and follow the on-screen instructions.

# Installing CoPilot Truck | Mobile

Your desktop/laptop and Smartphone should both be turned on. The cradle/ cable for your mobile device must be connected to your desktop through either a USB or Serial port. Your Smartphone should be connected to your desktop via ActiveSync (see p. 6).

#### **Installation Steps:**

Step 1: Insert the CoPilot Truck | Mobile Install Disc into your CD-ROM drive. After a few seconds, the Installation Wizard will open. Follow the instructions, entering your Installation Product Key when prompted. This Product Key can be found on the front cover of your printed Quick Start Guide or on the supplied Product Key card.

**NOTE:** When asked to choose a language, you may have to scroll up to find the language you want.

The CoPilot application will be installed to your desktop PC and to your Smartphone separately. The Smartphone installation will ask if the default location (the device's storage memory) is where you want the application to be placed.

- Step 2: When the installation is complete, a CoPilot icon will appear on your desktop. Click **Finish** to close the Installation Wizard.
- Step 3: The first time you open CoPilot Truck | Mobile on your Smartphone, you will be asked to activate the product. You can open and use CoPilot's **desktop** trip planning software without activating it.

# **Software Activation**

You must activate your CoPilot software in order to use it. The first time you open CoPilot on your Smartphone, the *Activate* screen will appear and you will be asked to activate the software.

For Automatic Activation, follow the on-screen instructions:

- 1. Synchronize your Smartphone with your desktop/laptop computer via ActiveSync.
- 2. Connect your desktop/laptop to the Internet.
- 3. Press **Done** when ready and enter your e-mail address when prompted. CoPilot will be automatically activated within a few seconds. Press **Done** to begin using CoPilot.

If you are unable to synchronize your Smartphone with your desktop/laptop but have internet access, you can select **Activate Manually**. Follow the onscreen instructions.

# **Deactivation and License Upgrade**

The CoPilot desktop software contains street-level maps for all of Europe and the United States, and CoPilot is offered with different licenses that allow you to use some or all of these maps on your mobile device. Licenses are available for the following:

(1) **Single region** - Detailed street-level maps for any of the following regions: Alps Ski Region, Benelux (Belgium, the Netherlands, and Luxembourg), France, Germany, Italy, Pyrenees, Scandinavia, and the United Kingdom.

(2) Pan-Europe - Complete street-level maps for all of Europe

(3) United States - Complete street-level maps for the entire U.S.

After purchasing the license, go to **Menu > Options > Upgrade License**. Press **Menu > Activate/Upgrade**, and input your upgrade **Product Key**. Proceed through the activation process. The CoPilot desktop software already contains complete European maps, which can now be downloaded to your mobile device for in-vehicle use. If you purchased CoPilot with a single region license and later want to use street maps from other regions, you will need to purchase an upgrade license from your dealer.

# Adding a Data Region

If you have purchased an additional data region after your initial purchase of CoPilot, you will need to modify the original ("Base") installation and activate the new region.

**IMPORTANT:** You can only use your Expansion Product Key AFTER you have installed CoPilot with a Product Key for the Base product. If you have not yet installed CoPilot, please do so first and then follow the instructions below.

#### ON YOUR DESKTOP/LAPTOP:

- 1. Insert your CoPilot Install Disc into your CD-ROM drive.
- 2. Select Modify and click Next when the InstallShield Wizard appears.
- 3. Enter your Expansion Product Key when prompted to enter a **Product Key**.
- 4. Follow the on-screen instructions for installing to your desktop and Smartphone.
- 5. The Activation Wizard will appear at the end of installation. Activation occurs just as it did when you originally installed CoPilot.

#### **ON YOUR SMARTPHONE:**

**IMPORTANT:** You must install CoPilot to your Smartphone using your Base Product Key AND you must have data downloaded to your Smartphone before using your Expansion Product Key.

- 1. Open CoPilot on your Smartphone.
- 2. Press the Menu softkey, then select Options > Upgrade License.

3. Enter your Expansion Product Key (found in your order confirmation email) when prompted to enter a **Product Key**.

- 4. Follow the on-screen instructions.
- 5. Activation occurs just as it did when you originally installed CoPilot.

If you have any questions about this process, please visit our Support Center at **www.alk.eu.com** or send an e-mail to **support@alk.com**.

# **Region Selection**

If you purchased an additional data region, when downloading map data to your Smartphone you will need to make sure the proper region is active. To do this, on your desktop in Planning mode click the **Map** menu **> Region >** and check the desired region.

# **Changing the Voice Option at Any Time**

CoPilot offers one or both of the following voice options, depending on your selected language:

- Male Pre-Recorded Sound Files
- Female Pre-Recorded Sound Files

To change the voice option:

- 1. Connect your Smartphone to your PC via Activesync.
- 2. Insert the Install Disc into your CD-ROM drive.
- 3. Select Modify from the InstallShield menu and click Next.
- 4. Enter your **Installation Product Key** (found on the front of your printed *Quick Start Guide* or on the supplied Product Key card) and click **Next**.
- 5. Make sure that ONLY **Smartphone Installation** is checked and click **Next**.
- 6. Select your voice option and click Next.
- 7. Click Yes to reinstall Pocket Speech.
- 8. Click No to reinstall CoPilot.
- 9. Press Ok on your Smartphone to reinstall.
- 10. Press Yes to All if prompted.
- 11. Click Ok on your desktop, then click Finish to complete the process.

# Map Download to Your Smartphone

To use CoPilot Truck | Mobile on your Smartphone, you first need to download map data from your desktop or laptop computer to your mobile device. You select the data to download from one or more regions that you specify in the CoPilot application on your desktop. It's a simple process.

To begin the data download process, open the CoPilot Truck | Mobile application on your desktop/laptop, then click the Data Download Wizard icon or pick **Data Download Wizard** from the **File** menu. CoPilot gives you two options for downloading data:

- Download directly to your Smartphone using a Storage Card Reader follow steps (1), (2), and (3a) below.
- Download to a hard drive on your computer, then manually copy the data to your Smartphone using ActiveSync — follow steps (1), (2), and (3b) below.

#### (1) Choose a Storage Location:



 Open the CoPilot application on your desktop/laptop, then click the Data Download Wizard icon in the sidebar on the left. Make sure your Smartphone is synchronized. CoPilot will scan your

computer to detect which drive options are available.

2. Click on the **Drive Name** pick list that appears and select either the drive letter of your Storage Card Reader (if you are using one) or the drive letter of your Hard Drive (e.g. C). Click **Next**.

* Starage Card Reader Drive Name
The selected framinal income.

#### (2) Select a Data Area:

Select a data area using one of three methods (see *Data Selection Options* p. 13-18 for a description of each method):



City Radius to select an area around a town or city;



Map Area to select an area directly from the map;



**Trip** to select a corridor along a route between two places.

# (3) Download the Data:

#### (3a) Using a Storage Card Reader:

- 1. Make sure the Storage Card for your Smartphone is inserted in the Storage Card Reader.

2. Clicking the **Download** icon will take you to a screen where *Available Area(s)* for download are displayed on the left. To designate an area to include in the download, highlight it and then click on the right arrow button to move it to the *Data Included in This Download* list on the right. To take an area off the list, highlight it and click the left arrow button.

- After confirming that the area(s) you would like to download are in the Data Included in This Download list, click Download to complete the map data download process (see Data Download Options, p. 19-20).
- 4. Remove the Storage Card from the Storage Card Reader and insert it into the Smartphone. Your data is now ready to be used by CoPilot.

#### (3b) Using ActiveSync:

- 1. Ensure that your Smartphone is connected to the desktop/laptop via ActiveSync.
- 2. Clicking the **Download** icon will take you to a screen where *Available Area(s)* for download are displayed on the left. To designate an area to include in the download, highlight it and then click on the right arrow button to move it to the *Data Included in This Download* list on the right. To take an area off the list, highlight it and click the left arrow button.
  - After confirming that the area(s) you would like to download are in the Data Included in This Download list, click Download to complete the map data download process (see Data Download Options, p. 19-20).
  - 4. On the desktop, double click the **My Computer** icon. Navigate to the drive letter you downloaded the data to. The data you downloaded will be in a folder named "CoPilot". For example, if you had chosen Drive C, the data would be in the folder "C:\CoPilot\".
  - 5. Copy the CoPilot folder by right clicking on it and selecting Copy.
  - Open ActiveSync and click on the Explore icon. Navigate to the Smartphone's Storage Card. Use the menu option Edit > Paste to copy the folder to your Smartphone's Storage Card.

# **Data Selection Options**



After you specify a location where the data will be stored, you will be prompted to select a region on the map to download. CoPilot gives you a choice of three ways to select a data region, described p. 13-19 below.

# **City Radius Data Selection**

This method allows you to quickly select data in the shape of a circle surrounding any city on the map. In the Data Download Wizard you type a city name and state abbreviation or ZIP code and enter the number of miles you would like the radius to extend around the city, then click Next.

The Wizard displays a map that shows the city and the radius you chose. At this point you can zoom the map in and out using zoom buttons and adjust the size of the data area by altering the radius of the circle.

Follow these steps to download City Radius data:





in the Data Download Wizard.









- 2. Enter a City, State or ZIP code, and a mile radius around the area that you would like to download. Click Next to verify that the area is correct.
- 3. Using the Data Download Wizard toolbar you can zoom in or out, change the radius, or go back to the previous screen. When you are satisfied with your selection, click Next.

Note: CoPilot's available memory calculations subtract 15 MB from the available memory on your storage card (if you are using one) to account for support files.

- 4. Name the selection, then click Next.
- 5. You will return to the Data Selection menu where you can select another data area if you like, using any method. When you finish selecting data areas. click the Download icon and you will be taken to the final screen where you can build your download.

# **Map Area Data Selection**

This method of selecting data allows you to choose an area of data by drawing a box on the Data Download Wizard's map screen.

In the Wizard, you enter a city name near which you would like to select data, then click **Next**. The map will zoom to that location. Then you create a box around the desired area by clicking and dragging your mouse across the map. The street-level data within that box will be selected.

You can zoom the map in and out using the zoom buttons and adjust the size of the data area by redrawing the box.

Follow these steps to download Map Area data:



1. Click the **Map Area** icon in the Data Download Wizard.

Data Download Wizard Enter the name of the city or address that you would like to locate, then click "Next" to view map.	; City, State or Zip Code Princeton, NJ Address (Optional)
Back	Next

2. Enter a **City, State or ZIP code** (address optional) within the area that you would like to download. Click **Next**.



3. Click and hold the left mouse button and drag the cursor to draw a box around a desired area. The size of the area will be displayed in the toolbar. Click Next.

**Note:** CoPilot's available memory calculations subtract 15 MB from the available memory on your storage card (if you are using one) to account for support files.



4. Name the selection, then click **Next**.



5. You will return to the *Data Selection* menu where you can select another data area if you like, using any method. When you are finished selecting data areas, click the **Download** icon to go to the final screen where you can build your download.

# **Trip Data Selection**

The Trip method of selecting data is by far the most customizable method. This option allows you to run a trip and select street-level data specific to that trip, thereby avoiding unneeded data and saving valuable memory space.

Once the trip is run, the Data Download Wizard automatically selects circles of data around your origin and destination, and a corridor of data along your route. You can then click **Options** to adjust the radius of the circles and the width of the corridor.

The Trip Itinerary for each trip you download will be stored on your Smartphone. Multiple trips can be downloaded to the Smartphone for later use (see *Trip Transfer*, p. 22).

Follow these steps to download Trip data:



1. Click the **Trip** icon.



ities and Addresses	Points of Interes	Favorites Co	ntacts
City, State or ZIP Co	de		
Princeton, NJ, Merc			
Address (ex. 67 Mair	sn		•
20 Nassau Street			
Name (optional)			
Trip Itinerary			
Trip Kinerary			 
Trip Itinerary			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Trip Itinerary			Add Tay

 Enter at least a start and end place for your trip. In the *Cities and Addresses* tab, type a **City, State or ZIP Code** and press <Enter>. Optionally, you can enter an address in the same way. Click the **Add Stop** button to add this place to your trip.

You may enter one or multiple destinations. Use the buttons to the right of the *ltinerary* to zoom to a stop on the map, change the order of stops, or delete a stop.

Category	Airport (Major)	4/4
f Type	<all types=""></all>	E.
Ols that tart with		M
City/State	Philadelphia, PA, Philadelphia, 19104	
Vithin	miles of the city	
		and the state
start: 20 Na	sau Street, Princeton, NJ, 08542 Rep	
Trip Itinera		ortX





Trip Download Options				
Map Radius Su	urrounding:			
	Origin	6.0	Miles	
	stops	20.0	Miles	
	Destination	10.0	Miles	
Width of Data Cor	ridor Along Rout	e		
		4.0	Miles	
Set As Default Resto	re Default			ок
	io bondalit			<u></u>

3. To search for a POI, click the *Points of Interest* tab, enter a **City, State** or a ZIP Code and click the **Find** button.



You can speed up your search by selecting a POI **Category** and/or **Type**.

3a. Highlight a selection, click **Select**, then **Add Stop**.

Note: For a more detailed description of trip entry, open CoPilot Help from the desktop application (Help menu > Help Contents and Search).

4. When all your stops have been entered, click **Select Data**.

By default a 20 mile radius around all stops and a width of 4 miles along the corridor which connects them will be highlighted. **Note:** CoPilot's available memory calculations subtract 15 MB from the available memory on your storage card (If you are using one) to account for support files.

 To customize these distances for any trip, click **Options** and type a distance in the appropriate box.



6. You will return to the *Data Selection* menu where you can select another data area if you like, using any method. When you are finished selecting data areas, click **Download**. Trip itineraries that were created using the *Trip* download method will be transferred along with map data (see p. 22 for details).

# **Data Download Options**

When you're ready to execute a download, the Wizard will display a list of **Available Area(s)** for download on the left side of the window. To designate an area to include, click on it and then click on the right arrow button to move it to the **Data Included in This Download** list. If you need to move an area off the *Included* list, click on it and use the left arrow button.

Available Area(s)		Data Included in This Do	wnload
Area Name	Size (MB)	Area Name	Size (MB)
ChurchvillePA	11.5 MB	-> TripToRedBankNJ	8.0 MB
	4	C Include US Highway N	letwork (**39MB)
Delete		Create Quickstart	(<10MB)
		Required Memory	18.0 M
		Available Map Memory	97.7 M

To delete an area from memory, click on it and click **Delete**.

Notice that the amount of available map memory and the memory required for all the areas on the Included list is shown beneath the list. **NOTE:** CoPilot's available memory calculations subtract 15 MB from the your storage card (if you are using one) to account for support files.

**IMPORTANT:** Each data download overwrites the data that is already on your Smartphone. If any data areas are already loaded on your Smartphone, they will be overwritten by the new download. Therefore, your download must include all areas that you wish to have available on your Smartphone. Check **Include US Highway Network** to download CoPilot's complete United States Highway Network along with your data. This additional download requires approximately 36 MB of space on your Smartphone. When this network is loaded, major roads, cities, and some points of interest outside your selected data region will be shown on the map and you'll be able to receive guidance as you drive anywhere in the U. S.

Check **Download Favorites** to download your Favorites list from the Trip Planner window on your desktop along with map data. These addresses will then be available as Favorites for trip entry on the Smartphone.

**RECOMMENDED OPTION:** It is recommended that you leave **Create QuickStart** checked (see below for a description of this feature), but you may uncheck it if you don't want the QuickStart copied with your download.

## **CoPilot QuickStart Application Download**

Each time you download data, CoPilot gives you the option to download a complete, ready-to-use "QuickStart" version of CoPilot along with the data. Having the QuickStart version on your mobile device ensures that CoPilot will be available even if you experience technical problems with your Smartphone and need to perform a hard reset. (During a hard reset, all installed applications are deleted from the Smartphone.) The QuickStart version will automatically install CoPilot after a hard reset, and your map data will already be there!

**To run the QuickStart application** on your mobile device after a hard reset, simply turn on your Smartphone. CoPilot will automatically begin installation.

The QuickStart option can be turned on or off in the final step of the download process (see above). By default this option is active and the QuickStart download will be executed each time you download map data.

The QuickStart needs **10 MB** of space on your Storage Card. Once the QuickStart has been copied, you can save time the next time you download data by unchecking the **Create QuickStart** option in the final Data Download Wizard screen before proceeding to download. You will also want to uncheck this option if you do not have enough room on your Storage Card for it.

If the QuickStart is copied onto your Storage Card and you need to remove it, simply delete the folder that contains it. The folder will be named "2577".

# **POI Download Options**

When you download a data region, youl get all roads within that region. Also included are regional points of interest (POI) such as gas stations, hotels, restaurants, visitor attractions, etc.

CoPilot now lets you control the number and types of POI that get downloaded along with map data. You can save space on your Smartphone by eliminating categories of POI that you're not interested in seeing.

To select which POI categories you want, choose **POI Download Options** from the **Edit menu** in the desktop application or, when you first open the Data Download Wizard, click the **Options** button in the Wizard. Check the categories you wish to select (click the plus sign next to each category to see the included sub-categories).

Click **Save Settings** to save the set of categories you create. Click **Restore Default** to return to CoPilot's default categories.



# **Trip Transfer**

When you use the **Trip** download option, CoPilot transfers whole trips to your Smartphone. The trip you create, including its Itinerary, is transferred along with the surrounding data corridor, and it becomes the current trip.

The **Trip** download option creates a .TRP file that is placed in the *Save* directory in the CoPilot installation folder on your Smartphone. Subsequent downloads will add more .TRP files to this folder. The number of trips that may be stored is limited only by the available memory on your Smartphone. If multiple trips are downloaded, the last one to be added will open as the current trip. Use the **Saved Trip** stop entry option on your Smartphone to open stored .TRP files.



# **Importing Custom Places**

CoPilot's Custom Place Import Wizard enables you to import addresses from your Outlook Contacts database, an Excel file, or text file. (If you are using another type of database or contact manager, you can export your contacts/ locations to an Excel or text file before importing them into CoPilot.) These points are then added to CoPilot's POI database in a category and type of your choice (the default category is "Custom"). Once in the database, they are displayed on maps as pushpins and included in search results when you search for points of interest on your Smartphone or in the Trip Planner window on your desktop/laptop.

**NOTE:** CoPilot now allows importing of multiple POIs with the same name (e.g. an entire database of "Starbucks").

To access the Wizard, choose **Import Custom Places** from the **Tools** menu in Planning Mode on the desktop, then follow the step-by-step instructions given by the Wizard.

#### Steps for Importing:





- In Planning Mode on your desktop/ laptop, choose Import Custom Places from the Tools menu to open the Import Custom Places Wizard.
- 2. Choose Import from Microsoft Outlook or Import from an existing file (this can be a .txt or an Excel file). Click Next.
- 3. In the next Wizard screen, type the path to the file you want to import or Browse for it, and use the Category pick list to indicate a POI category for your imported places (by default they are assigned to "Custom"). You can also choose a Type from the pick list. To edit the type name, highlight it on the pick list and click Edit Type Name below. Click Next when ready.







- 4. In the next screen you'll see the data from your file sorted into columns. If the columns you see in the screen have not sorted the address data correctly, you need to indicate which delimiter CoPilot should recognize when it separates the fields in your file into columns. Each field — e.g. name, street address, city, state, etc. needs to be separated by a delimiter such as a tab. semicolon. or comma. If your file uses a delimiter other than a comma, tab, or semicolon, click Other and type the delimiter in the box to the right. If the first row of your file consists of column headings, you should check Column headings in first row. Click Next when ready.
- Now, following the instructions on the screen, click each column heading and match the column headings with your data. To be accepted by CoPilot, each imported place must have at least four fields: Name, Address1, City, and State. Click Next when ready.
- 6. In the next screen, following the instructions, you can assign a name to the set of columns you just defined to save you time the next time you import addresses.

To skip this step, uncheck **Save the columns as a new set**. Click **Finish**.

À Data Im	port Status							_ 🗆 ×
Current Red		otal Records : 7						
Seconds/R		otal Elapsed Time : 0:00:11						
	E	st. Time to Complete : 0:00:00						
AddressMat	ch: Exact Good	Fair Failed						
T Iddicoon id.	3 3	0 1						
	Č Č	· ·						
Accept	Name	Address	City	St	Cont	Erro	r	<b></b>
+	Grace	12 Heathcote Road	Kingston	nj	1			12 H
	Cedar Hill Kennel	20 sunset road	belle meade		4			
+	Small World Coffee	230 Witherspoon Street		nj	1			230 \
+	Tracy	120 North Olden Avenue		nj		treet type (e.g., Bl	vd) is incorrect	
+	Gail	56 Jacobs Creek Road	Ewing	nj	1			56 Ja
+	Ed's Amoco	32 Princeton Avenue	Rocky Hill	nj		<u>treet type (e.g., Bl</u>		
+	Lucy's Deli	2600 East State Street	Trenton	nj	2 s	treet type (e.g., Bl	vd) is incorrect	2600
								-
•	1							Þ
			Dun	icate pl	laces:			
	Include:  Acce	epted (+) eocoded				es with items imported		
	O All G	eucuued						
			0.4	llow du	plicates	to be created		
			C F	rompt f	for each (	duplicate		
	Add	Cancel			Edit		Help	

- 7. When processing is finished, the Data Import Status window shows you how many places in your file were matched with addresses in the CoPilot database. A plus sign in the **Accept** column indicates a match. Places that failed to match appear in red and do not have a plus sign.
- 8. To edit a failed or incomplete match, highlight it and click **Edit** (see *Editing Custom Places*, next page). POI addresses can also be edited after they are added to the database using the Custom Place Manager.
- 9. When you are satisfied with the list of addresses, click **Add** to add these places to the CoPilot database.

Options below the list let you 1) choose whether to add all addresses on the list to the database, or just those that were accepted, and 2) determine how CoPilot will handle any address that duplicates one already in the database.

# **Editing Custom Places**

After custom places have been added to the database, they can be edited at any time. Select **Manage Custom Places** from the **Tools** menu, then highlight the custom place you wish to edit, click **Edit**, and make your changes. Click **Apply** when finished.

**NOTE:** By default, addresses entered as Custom Places are assigned to the Custom POI category. You can change this assignment at any time by selecting another **Category** from the drop-down pick list as you edit.

Custom Places				×
Name	Туре	Address	City	State Ph
Ed's Amoco Gail Grace Lucy's Defi Small World Coffee Tracy	Custom 1 Custom 1 Custom 1 Custom 1 Custom 1 Custom 1	32 Princeton Avenue 56 Jacobs Creek, Road 12 Heathcote Road 2600 East State Street 230 Witherspoon Street 120 North Olden Avenue	Rocky Hill Ewing Kingston Trenton Princeton Trenton	NU NJ NJ NJ NJ NJ
<u>E</u> dit	<u>Pick Stop</u>	Zoom Delete	Help Close	Edit Types
L		Elac Luc Add [260	ne:	Apply Clear

# Using CoPilot for Guidance

In CoPilot's Guidance Mode on your Smartphone, you will receive turn-byturn route guidance information as you travel. For your safety, the Safety View screen will hide maps when your speed exceeds 10 m.p.h. to avoid distractions.

**REMINDER:** CoPilot won't open on your Smartphone unless map data has been previously downloaded from the CoPilot desktop application.



1. To launch CoPilot, select your Smartphone's **Start** softkey, then navigate to the **CoPilot** application in the Start menu and press the **Action** key.



2. CoPilot will open with the **My Stops** screen. To enter a destination, press the **Action** key with **<Add a Stop>** selected.



3. The **Select Stop** screen gives you eight ways to enter a destination. You can:

- 1 Enter a new Address
- 2 Enter your Home address
- 3 Enter your Work address
- 4 Select a Favorite
- 5 Enter an Intersection
- 6 Enter an Outlook Contact
- 7 Search for a Point of Interest (POI)

Press the **Action** key on the option you want (these options are described on the following pages).

There's no need to enter a starting location. CoPilot uses GPS positioning to determine your location automatically.

When you have entered at least one stop in the **My Stops** screen, you can press the **Start Driving** softkey and CoPilot will begin guiding you with onscreen and spoken directions.

If you take a wrong turn or decide to take a different route than the one CoPilot has generated, no problem! CoPilot will almost instantly recalculate new directions from your current position. You simply won't be able to get lost using CoPilot!

# **Address Entry**



1. Select **Address** in the **Select Stop** screen to enter a city or ZIP code and (optionally) a street address as a stop.

Address	abc♥
Street Numb	er Step 2
14 Street Name	
euclid av	
City	
kingston	
State	
NJ New Jers	ey ∢ ▶
Done	Cancel

2. In the Address screen, enter a Street Name with or without a Street Number. In the **City** field, enter either a city name or a ZIP code. Choose a **State** from the pick list. NOTE: Street address entry is optional, if you like you can enter only a city or ZIP code and state.

To return to the Select Stop screen to start over, press Cancel.



3. The Matches screen will display a list of matches that were found in the CoPilot database. Highlight your choice and press the Select softkey to continue.

To return to the Address screen, press the Menu softkey and select Cancel.



Kingston, NJ

1 Zoom In 1 2 Zoom Out 2

Menu

Done

3a. To see any match on the map, press the Menu softkey and select Map.

3b. In the map screen, to zoom your view of a place in closer or out farther away, press the Menu softkey and select one of the zoom options.



4. You will see the destination you entered in the My Stops screen.

Press the Start Driving softkey to begin receiving guidance, then start driving!

See Start Driving!, p. 41 for a description of CoPilot guidance screens.



3c. For quick zooming, pressing the Action key will display zoom arrows. Tap up on the Action key to zoom in or down to zoom out - these actions can be repeated until the highest or lowest zoom level is reached.

3d. To display the latitude and longitude of

any match, press the Menu softkey and







# **Stop Menu Options**

In the **My Stops** screen, press the **Menu** softkey to access options that include adding, deleting, moving, editing, and optimizing your stops.

My Sto	ops	_ <b>€</b> }∆
<b>P</b> 164	1 Add Stop	
📕 <a0< th=""><th>2 Delete</th><th></th></a0<>	2 Delete	
	3 Delete Al	1
	4 Actions	•
	5 Mode	+
	6 Options	
	7 Help	+
	8 Exit	
Start	Driving	Menu

#### Add Stop

To add another destination, choose Add Stop from the menu. (You can also simply highlight <Add a Stop> in the My Stops list and press the Action key.)

My Stops		$\odot$
📙 100 🛛 1 Add	Stop	ad
702 🛛 2 Dela	ete	ns
🏴 164 🛛 3 Dela	ete All	
<u>)</u> _^_		
1 Move Up		
2 Move Dow	n	
3 Set as Waypoint		
4 Optimize Stops		
5 Map		
Start Driving	Mei	nu

#### Actions

Select **Actions >** to access more stop options:

**> Move Up/Down** — Change the order of stops on your trip by moving the highlighted stop up or down on the list.

> Set As Waypoint — Turn the highlighted stop into a waypoint. The purpose of waypoints is to guide your route along roads you prefer. See p. 44 for more on waypoints.

> Optimize Stops — Reorder stops on the list to achieve the most efficient route, keeping your final destination the same.

> Map — See the highlighted stop on the map.

Select Mode to switch between Guidance.

see p. 56 for a description of each mode.

Navigating, Walking, and Planning mode --



#### Delete

Select **Delete** to delete the highlighted stop, or **Delete All** to clear all stops from the list (you will be asked to confirm this action).

My Sto	ps			⊕₹
100	1 Add	Sto	p	ad
<b> -</b> 702	2 Dele	ete		ns
🏴 164	3 Dele	ete i	A11	
🏴 <a0< th=""><th>4 Acti</th><th>one</th><th>_</th><th></th></a0<>	4 Acti	one	_	
✓1 Gu	idance		•	
2 Na	vigating			
3 Wa	alking	1		
4 Pla	anning			
	8 Exit			
Start	Driving		Mer	nu

#### e۲ My Stops 1 Add Stop <u> |</u> 164 2 Delete <mark>/</mark> 100 ad 14 3 Delete All 📮 <A 4 Actions 5 Mode 6 Options 7 Help 8 Exit Start Driving Menu

#### Options

Mode

Select **Options** to change routing options — see p. 49-57.

Exit

## 33 -

Select Help > and choose Help for on-
screen instructions about basic CoPilot
features, or <b>About</b> for version information
about CoPilot.

Help

# Select Stop Image: Constraint of the section 1 Image: Constraint of the section 3 Image: Constraint of the section 3 Image: Constraint of the section 6 Image: Constraint of the section 7 Point Of Interest 8 Pick From Map

Done

#### To program your home address for quick trip entry, select **Home** in the **Select Stop** screen and enter your home address as you would a new address (p. 28). The next time you want to enter your home address as a stop, just select **Home** in the **Select Stop** screen and your address will be automatically entered.

To edit your home address, select **Favorite** in the **Select Stop** screen, highlight your home address on the list, then press the **Menu** softkey and choose **Edit**. Or, select a different Favorite from the list and choose **Set as Home** from the menu.

# **Entering Your Work Address**

**Entering Your Home Address** 

Select Stop
1 🔄 Address
2 🚳 Home
3 🗰 Work
4 🚖 Favorite
5 🐗 Intersection
6 😨 Contact
7 🗜 Point Of Interest
8 🕀 Pick From Map
Done

To program your work address for quick trip entry, select **Work** in the **Select Stop** screen and enter your work address as you would a new address (p. 28). The next time you want to enter your work address as a stop, just select **Work** in the **Select Stop** screen and your workplace will be automatically entered.

To edit your work address, select **Favorite** in the **Select Stop** screen, highlight your work address on the list, then press the **Menu** softkey and choose **Edit**. Or, select a different Favorite from the list and choose **Set as Work** from the menu.

- 34 -



Select Exit to close the CoPilot application.

Menu

Ø٣

ad

My Stops

<mark>-</mark> 164

**1**00

🏴 14

📕 <A

1 Add Stop

3 Delete All

4 Actions

6 Options

7 Help 8 Exit Start Driving

5 Mode

2 Delete



#### **Favorites**

Select	Stop	0	<u>.</u> 9
1 🔡	Address		
2 🕥	Home		
З 🥟	Work		
4 🜟	Favorit	5	
	Interse		
6 😨	Contact		
7 👂	Point Of	Interest	
8 🕀	Pick Fro	m Map	
D	one		
		,	
Favori	tes	Ø	┉쮜
	Raymond	Road,	
Prin	iceton, N	J	
2 164	One Mile	Road,	
Cra	nbury, NJ	l	
3 100	0 Herron	town Road	i,
Prin	iceton, N	J	
4 14 8	Euclid Ave	enue, King	ston,
NJ			
5 702	Windsor	Commons	i,
Cra	nbury, NJ		
Se	lect	Menu	
Favor	tos	· ,	<u> </u>
1 16	1 Map	```	
	2 Detai	s	
2 10			d.
Pr	3 Edit		,
3 14	4 Delet	e	ston.
N.	5 Delet	e All	
4 16	6 Set A	c Homo	
Ki			
	7 Set A	2 WOLK	
5 70			5.
5 70 Cr	8 Cance	el	5,
Cr	8 Cance elect	el Menu	

CoPilot automatically places every stop you enter on a list of favorite places for future quick trip entry. To enter a favorite as a stop, first select **Favorites** in the **Select Stop** screen. In the next screen, choose one of the places on the scrollable list, then press **Select**.

#### MENU OPTIONS:

Press **Menu** at the bottom of the screen to access these options:

**Map** — Zoom to the highlighted favorite.

**Details** — View or edit address data for the highlighted favorite.

Edit — Edit the highlighted favorite.

**Delete** — Delete the highlighted favorite.

**Delete All** — Delete all favorites from your favorites list.

**Set as Home** — Set the highlighted favorite as your **Home** address for quick trip entry.

**Set as Work** — Set the highlighted favorite as your **Work** address for quick trip entry.

Cancel — Return to the Select Stop screen.

NOTE: When the number of Favorites on your list reaches 50, each new address will replace the address that has been inactive for the longest period of time.

#### To Save Your Current Location As a Favorite:

You must be receiving GPS data to save your current location as a favorite. In any display screen press the **Menu** softkey, then select **Actions > Save GPS Location**.

# Intersections

Choose **Intersection** in the **Select Stop** screen to enter the intersection of two roads as a stop on your route. Intersections are entered just like addresses (see p. 28), except that instead of a house number you enter a "First Street" and "Second Street". You can name this location if you like.



# **Entering an Outlook Contact**

CoPilot allows you to link directly to Microsoft® Pocket Outlook to retrieve address information. Within moments, you can enter a contact's home and/or work address as your destination.

Contact	s		Ω
1 Barb	1 De	- /L\ tails	
2 Barb	2 Ca		
3 Baril	2 (a	·	
4 Beac	3 A-E	. →	)
5 Bish	4 F-J	•	
6 Bow	5 K-(	) (	1 K
7 Brou	6 P-1		2 L
8 Cran	7 U-2		3 M
9 More			4 N
	8 Ca	ncel	50
Dor	1e	N	Tenu

To enter a contact, first select **Contacts** in the **Select Stop** screen. In the next screen you'll see your list of contacts.

To select a contact, press the **Menu** softkey, select a range of letters, then choose a letter from the sub-menu to display all names that begin with that letter. Highlight the contact you want, then press **Done**.

Press Menu and select Cancel to return to the Select Stop screen. To view or edit a contact's address, select Details. To put a call through to a contact, select Call.

# **Finding Points of Interest**

CoPilot enables you to search for points of interest (POI) such as gas stations, hotels, restaurants, visitor attractions, etc. within the region for which map data was downloaded from your desktop/laptop computer. You can then choose a destination from the list of search results.

abcY

abcY



- 3. From the **Search Center** pick list, choose an area for CoPilot to search (use the arrows). Options are:
  - Current GPS Position (search an area around your current location)
  - City, State or ZIP (enter a city and state or ZIP code)
  - Recent (choose a location you recently entered as a destination)
  - Contact (choose an address from your Contacts list)



4. Press **Done** to begin the search. A list of POI will be generated. In that screen you can press Menu for more options.



*(Optional)* In the menu, **Map** zooms to the highlighted POI on the map, **Details** gives you more address information, **Expand Search** executes the search again over a wider area, and **Call** enables you to make contact by phone.



5. To add a POI as a stop, highlight it in the Matches list and press Select.



# **Picking Stops from the Map**

CoPilot enables you to pick a stop off the map when you don't know the exact address of your destination.

- 1. Select **Pick from Map** in the Select Stop screen.
- CoPilot will prompt you to enter a location where you can start searching for the place you have in mind. Highlight one of the options, press Select, and enter any necessary information. Choose Current GPS to zoom to your current location.



- 3. CoPilot will zoom to the place you enter, and a crosshair cursor will appear on the map. Use the menu to **Zoom In** or **Zoom Out**. Check **Show POIs** on the menu to display points of interest.
- 4. With the cursor on the place or address you want to pick, press **Select** to add this place as a stop. Places picked from the map are marked by an asterisk in the stop list.



# **Start Driving!**

Once you have entered at least one stop in the **Select Stop** screen, you're ready to start driving with CoPilot! You'll receive turn-by-turn directions and maps to guide you safely to your destination. As you drive, CoPilot's dynamic directions will instantly recalculate your route if you take a wrong turn or decide to go a different way. In addition, CoPilot can calculate a detour from your current position, giving you the option to accept the new route or to cancel it and return to the your original route at any time.

CoPilot speaks directions out loud to you, and also displays them on your Smartphone screen. There are three guidance screens to choose from: **Safety View**, **Map** (four views), and **Itinerary**.

# **Safety View**

The **Safety View** displays a text-only screen when your speed exceeds 10 m.p.h. and is the recommended view for safe driving. When you're within .7 miles of a turn or driving less than 10 m.p.h., CoPilot automatically switches to the Map Views display.

The Safety View can be accessed from other guidance screens by pressing the **View** softkey and choosing **Safety View**.



# **Map Views**

The CoPilot map screen displays when you are traveling at less than 10 m.p.h. and .7 miles before each turn. It combines a detailed map display with concise text instructions.

In any of the four Map views, your current GPS position is displayed and you are tracked in real time as you drive. To choose a Map view, press the **View** softkey and make your selection:

- Next Turn Map This view frames your current location up to the next turn on your route.
- Where Am I Map Select this option to frame a close-up view of your current location.
- Next Stop Map This view frames your route from your current location to the next stop.
- **3D Map** This option changes CoPilot's two-dimensional default display mode to a three-dimensional perspective based off an isometric camera angle.



Hazmat Routing Indicators

#### **Zooming and Shifting Your Map View**

To zoom your view of the map in or out, press the **Menu** softkey and select **Zoom In** or **Zoom Out**. Or, press the **Action** key to display the zoom arrow, then press up to zoom in or down to zoom out. This action can be repeated until the minimum or maximum zoom level is reached.

To navigate to another area of the map, use the **Action** key as a navigation pad: press up, down, left, or right as many times as you like.



# **Itinerary View**

The Trip Itinerary is a scrollable set of driving directions for the current trip. Individual roads on your Itinerary can be avoided using the **Menu** in this screen — highlight the road to avoid and select **Actions > Avoid Road**.



# **Trip Editing**

To make changes to your trip at any time from the guidance screens, press the **Menu** softkey and choose **Edit Trip**. This will return you to the **My Stops** screen where all your stops are listed. From there, select any stop to open a menu of stop options.

#### **Basic Menu Options for Trip Editing**

Zoom In/Out	In the map screen, zooms your view in/out.
Edit Trip	Navigates to the My Stops screen for trip editing.
Actions >	Delete: Deletes the highlighted stop.
	Delete All: Deletes all stops.
	Set as Waypoint: Turns a stop into a waypoint (see p. 46).
	<b>Optimize Stops:</b> Reorganizes stops in the most efficient order, keeping the last stop the same. This action is not reversible.
	Map: Zooms to the highlighted stop on the map.
	Move Up: Moves the highlighted stop up on the list.
	Move Down: Moves the highlighted stop down.
Traffic >	Displays real-time traffic information settings.
Mode >	Opens the Mode menu — see p. 56.
Options >	Opens the <b>Options</b> menu to change routing, mapping, and guidance settings — see p. 49-57.
Help >	Displays CoPilot Help topics.
Exit	Closes CoPilot.



# **Taking a Detour**

If for any reason you find that you want to take an alternate route around a particular road segment — no problem! CoPilot can calculate a detour on command, tell you how much longer it will be, and then give you the option to accept the new route or cancel it and return to the original route at any time.

To have CoPilot generate a detour, press the **View** softkey in either the Safety or Map screen. Then select **Actions > Detour**. You will see the new route appear on the map (your old route will be drawn in blue). To reject the new route and return to the original route at any time, select **Actions > Cancel Detour**.





# Selective Routing — Avoiding Roads

To avoid an individual road and have CoPilot calculate another route around that road, you must be in the **Itinerary** screen. From there, highlight the road you want to avoid in the scrollable list and highlight it, then press the **Menu** softkey and select **Actions > Avoid Road**.

To cancel any road preferences that have been set and return to your original route, select **Actions > Cancel Avoid**.



## Selective Routing — What Are Waypoints?

"Waypoints" are not treated like stops in the Itinerary for your trip, their purpose is to guide CoPilot route calculations along roads that you choose.

To change a stop to a waypoint, highlight the stop in the **My Stops** screen, press the **Menu** softkey, then select **Actions > Set as Waypoint**. On the stop list, the flag icon next to this stop will be replaced by a round icon with an arrow pointing to the right.

To change a waypoint back to a stop, choose **Actions > Set as Stop** from the menu.

CoPilot ignores waypoints when calculating the ETA and distance to the next stop, so setting waypoints can be used to get the ETA and distance to a stop that is not your next stop (see *Getting ETA's and Distances*, p. 47).

# **Getting ETA's and Distances**

The estimated time of arrival (ETA) and distance to your next stop will always be shown at the bottom of the Safety screen. To bring up the Safety screen, enter one or more stops, press the **Start Driving** softkey, then select **Safety View** from the **View** menu.

If your trip has multiple stops and you want to know the ETA for a destination that is not the next stop, designate the stops between your current location and the target stop as waypoints — highlight each one in the **My Stops** screen, then press the **Menu** softkey and choose **Actions > Set as Waypoint**. When all intermediate stops have been changed to waypoints, the Safety screen will display the ETA to your final destination.

The waypoints you created can be easily changed back to stops — highlight each one, press the **Menu** softkey, and select **Actions > Set as Stop**.



ETA and Distance to Next Stop

#### Saving a Current Location as a Favorite

To save your current location as a Favorite, press the **Menu** softkey in the Safety or Map screen, then select **Actions > Save GPS Location**.



# **Optimizing Your Stop Order**

To rearrange the stops on your trip in the most efficient order, press the **Menu** softkey in the **My Stops** screen, then select **Actions > Optimize Stops**. You must have at least three stops to optimize — the destination always remains the same.

My Sto	ps		$\odot$
<b> </b> 14	1 Add	Stop	
<b>)</b> 16	2 Dele	ete	
P 100	3 Dele	ete All	ad
107 📜			ns
- 1 Mo	1 Move Up		
2 Move Down			
3 Set as Waypoint			
4 Op	4 Optimize Stops		
5 Ma	5 Map		
Start	Driving	Mer	าน

# Options



Press the **Menu** softkey in the **My Stops** screen or any guidance screen, then select **Options** to access a menu of CoPilot options. Select **GPS Setup** to access the setup tools. Press the **Menu** softkey, then **Autoscan** to have CoPilot search for your Smartphone's GPS receiver. When your receiver is detected, you'll see the message "GPS connection configured successfully". Press **Done** to continue.

If the **COM Port** or **Baud Rate** setting needs to be changed, press the **Action** key on either setting to open a pick list of choices, select one and then press **Done**.

See Hardware Setup, p. 4, for more information.



To view your satellite activity at any time, in the **GPS** screen choose **GPS Status**. Here you will receive information about the quality of your current GPS fix, your current speed and lat/long position, heading, elevation, time and date.



GPS 다가 1 GPS Setup 2 GPS Status

#### **GPS** Options

Select **GPS** in the **Options** menu. The **GPS** screen provides tools for setting up and viewing your Smartphone's GPS functionality.

Routing	abc 🍸		
Truck Vehicl	е Туре:		
Practical	↓		
Restricted R	oads:		
<ul> <li>Avoid</li> </ul>	••		
Hazmat Routing:			
🔶 Explosive	es 🔸		
Toll Roads			
Done Cancel			

# **Routing Options**

Select **Options > Routing** from the menu in any guidance screen. In this screen CoPilot gives you a variety of truck-specific routing options.

#### Truck Routing Type:

CoPilot Truck's **Practical** and **Shortest** route types are based on ALK's industry-standard PC\*MILER Practical routing, which models the trade-off between taking the most direct

path and staying on major, high quality highways. Interstate highways are given a higher priority than toll roads, which in turn are given a higher priority than secondary highways, and so on. CoPilot's Practical routings consider distance, road quality, terrain, urban\rural classifications, truckrestricted roads, and designated principal and secondary through routes. **Shortest** routing travels the least distance where possible while maintaining some level of practicality.

Practical or Shortest routing can be combined with any of the other CoPilot routing options (described below, p. 51-53).

#### **Restricted Roads:**

This setting gives you a choice between Heavy Vehicle and Light Vehicle routing. When **Avoid** is selected (this is the default setting), Heavy Vehicle routing is in effect, so both truck-prohibited and truck-restricted roads will always be avoided on routes that are calculated by CoPilot. In addition, Heavy Vehicle routing takes nationwide 13' 6" height restrictions into account. A heavy vehicle is one weighing at least 80,000 pounds; a light vehicle weighs less than 80,000 pounds.

Select **Don't Avoid** to activate Light Vehicle routing. Light Vehicle routing avoids truck-prohibited roads, but truck-restricted roads are considered for a route. CoPilot Truck normally gives preference to Interstates, major highways, and major thru-roads where possible.

Your guidance screen displays an indicator for the road restriction setting:



Heavy Vehicle routing active (avoids all restricted roads)



Light Vehicle routing active (only truck-prohibited roads are avoided)

Regardless of which restriction setting is chosen, CoPilot will display a warning message if you turn onto a **commercial-prohibited** road. When Heavy Vehicle routing is active ("Avoid" is selected), a warning message will also pop up if you turn onto any **truck-restricted** road. You must press **OK** to hide the alert and continue using CoPilot — these alerts never disappear automatically.



#### Hazmat Routing:

CoPilot Truck can calculate routes for hazardous materials based on over twenty different road categories and four route options. Hazmat route options include: **General**, **Explosives** (1.1-1.3), **Inhalants**, and **Radioactive**. By default, Hazmat routing is turned off. On-screen indicators are:





Radioactive

When Hazmat routing is active, CoPilot will generate an on-screen alert on prohibited roads. You must press **OK** to continue using CoPilot.



**Note:** Hazardous material routing restriction/designation data used in CoPilot Truck's Hazmat route calculations is based on data provided by the Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration (FMCSA) and various other state and federal sources.

#### **Toll Roads:**

Select **Avoid** to avoid tolls. CoPilot Truck provides this routing option for carriers who desire to avoid long stretches of toll roads. Toll avoidance routing will avoid long stretches of toll roads but won't take long, impractical detours to avoid toll bridges and tunnels. For example, a route from Boston, MA to Albany, NY will avoid the Massachusetts Turnpike, but a route from Camden, NJ to Philadelphia, PA will include a toll bridge. May be combined with Practical or Shortest routing.

Routing	abc 🍸	
Hazmat Rout	ing:	
🛞 General	• •	
Toll Roads		
Don't Avoid	<b>٠</b> ۲	
National Network		
Don't Favor	 	
International Borders		
Open	$\leftrightarrow$	
Done	Cancel	

#### **National Network:**

The National Network is a governmentdesignated system of highways originally established by the Surface Transportation Assistance Act of 1982. The National Network includes the Interstate System (several minor segments are not included), and many selected US and state highways. Highways continue to be added to the National Network by federal and state governments.

CoPilot Truck National Network routing represents distances and driving routes which

are most reasonable and legal for the larger trucks authorized by the Surface Transportation Assistance Act of 1982.

If **Favor** is selected, CoPilot's calculated routes will stay on the National Network to the maximum extent possible. Given that many areas are not directly served by the National Network, the origin and stop-offs of your route may not be on the National Network. In these cases CoPilot will take the shortest reasonable path from the origin and stop-offs to the Network.

Select **Favor with 53' Trailer** for enhanced routing specifically for 53' trailers. Either National Network option may be combined with Practical or Shortest routing.

#### **International Borders:**

This option refers to Intra-US, Intra-Canada, and Intra-Mexico routing. If **Open** is selected, the route you generate will ignore international boundaries when necessary to come up with the best route. If **Closed** is selected, borders won't be crossed; for example, if all your stops are in the United States, the resulting route will stay in the United States even though the most practical or shortest route would normally involve some Canadian mileage.



# **Guidance Options**

Select Guidance in the Options menu. In the Guidance screen, the settings under Audio Turn Warnings determine how often and where CoPilot will give you next turn information out loud. All, none, or some boxes can be checked. A pick list gives the options for Just Ahead: by default you will be alerted 5 sec/100 ft before every turn (5 seconds or 100 feet, whichever is closest), but you can choose to have CoPilot speak to you sooner (from 2 - 8 seconds before each turn, or 100 feet).

The pick list under **Custom Display** (you need to scroll down to see it) includes display options for the customizable data line in the Safety View guidance screen. You can choose to have this line display the next stop (destination), current road, nearest crossroad, nearest major road, nearest town, current time, ETA, current speed, elevation, or heading.

Map	abc 🍸
Units	
Miles	• •
Map Rotation	
Heading Up	••
Map Colors	
Automatic	   
Display POIs	
Done	

#### **Map Options**

Select **Map** in the **Options** menu. Settings in the **Map** options screen are:

**Unit** — Use the pick list to choose **Miles** or **Kilometers** as the unit of distance.

**Map Rotation** — Choose **Heading Up** to have the map display always track your position moving upward, or **North Up** to always maintain north at the top of the map as you drive.

**Map Colors** — CoPilot offers **Day** and **Night** display modes. Colors are darker and glare is reduced in Night mode. Choose **Automatic** to have the mode switch automatically according to time of day.

**Display POIs** — Check to display Points of Interest (POI) on the map. If your map is too cluttered, you may want to turn this option off.

**Display Turn Restrictions** — When checked, one-way streets and other turn restrictions are noted on the map.

Live	(₽) Y
1 Login	
2 Settings	
3 Invitations	
4 History	
Done	

# **Live Options**

Select Live in the Options menu.

CoPilot Live allows you to maintain two-way communication with drivers who are using CoPilot and to actually see where they are currently located. You can do this using a computer with CoPilot installed or from our CoPilot Live web page.

See *CoPilot Live Communications*, p. 75-77, for a complete description of these features.

Options 🛲 🏹
1 GPS
2 Routing
3 Guidance
4 Map
5 Live
6 License Info
7 Traffic
8 POI Alerts
Done

# Upgrade License

Select **Upgrade License** in the **Options** menu. This screen enables you to upgrade your current version of CoPilot (see p. 8).

POI Alerts	œ۲	
🗹 Enable POI Al	erts	
Category:		
<all categories<="" td=""><td>&gt; • •</td></all>	> • •	
Type:		
<all types=""></all>	4 F	
Show POIs this	; far ahead:	
0.2 mi 🔹 🕨		
Show POIs that are:		
On My Route	4 ا	
Done	Cancel	

# **POI Alerts**

Select POI Alerts in the Options menu.

To toggle the POI Alerts feature on or off, press the **Action** key on **Enable POI Alerts**. This screen also lets you change settings that determine when and where alerts will be activated.

Alert	(₽°P			
Theater				
1 of 11 in 0.2 miles				
Garden Theater				
Surden Theuter				
	3 Previous			
2 Ignore	4 Next			
Cancel				

When **POI Alerts** is enabled, CoPilot will alert you with a verbal prompt each time you approach a Point of Interest on or near your route. A screen alert will also appear (like the one shown at left), giving you the option to:

1- Add the POI as a stop on your route

- 2- Ignore (you can also press Cancel)
- 3- Go back to the previous screen alert
- 4- Move forward to the next screen alert

1 GPS
2 Routing
3 Guidance
4 Map
5 Live
6 License Info
7 Traffic
8 POI Alerts
Done

#### **Traffic Options**

See Real-Time Traffic Information, p. 78-81.

Category	abc 🍸
<all categories=""></all>	
Automotive & Maintenar	ice
Educational Institutions	
Emergency & Medical	
Facilities & Buildings	
Gas Stations	
Government	
Lodging	
Parks & Recreation	
Dining	
Retail Outlets	
RV Services	
Sports & Recreation	
Done	

You can select one category of POI that you want to be alerted to from the **Category** list.

<b>Туре</b> <all types=""></all>	<sub>abc</sub> ♥
Hospital Doctor Medical Facility	
Done	

You can select one type of POI that you want to be alerted to from the **Type** list.

Show POIs this far aherabe 💙	
0.2 mi	
0.5 mi	
<u>1 mi</u>	
3 mi	
10 mi	
25 mi	
Done	

In the **Show POIs this far ahead** screen, set the distance at which you would like to receive an alert as you approach each POI. (The CoPilot default is .2 miles.)

# Show POIs that are abc On My Route Near My Route

You can use the **Show POIs that are:** pick list to increase the number of alerts you receive by selecting **Near My Route**. (By default, CoPilot detects only POIs that are directly on your route.)

# **CoPilot Modes**

CoPilot has four modes of operation on your Smartphone. To switch modes, press **Menu > Mode** in the **My Stops** screen or any guidance screen.

#### **Guidance Mode**

In Guidance Mode, you enter one or more destinations, then press **Start Driving** to start driving and receive guidance. This mode provides you with on-screen and spoken driving directions and other information relevant to your trip, such as estimated time of arrival (ETA) and distance to the next stop.

To receive driving directions and other data, you must have a GPS receiver that CoPilot recognizes and the receiver must be in a good position to receive signals.

#### **Navigating Mode**

While in Navigating Mode, CoPilot will track your position as you drive. Unlike in Guidance Mode, you won't receive turn instructions or voice prompts.

This tracking feature is an ideal way to see your location on the map if you don't want to be distracted by CoPilot's guidance features. Note that you must have a GPS signal.

## Walking Mode

Take CoPilot with you wherever you go! Walking Mode provides an as-thecrow-flies distance and direction line to your destination, directions that are perfect for walking. A GPS receiver must be attached and receiving signals.

#### **Planning Mode**

Planning Mode lets you use your Smartphone as a pre-trip planning tool or easy-to-use reference guide. Planning Mode lets you view static maps and directions without the need for a GPS receiver.

# Trip Planning On Your Smartphone

You can use CoPilot on your Smartphone for trip planning whether or not the GPS receiver is connected and receiving data. In Planning Mode you can run a trip even when you're not in your car. You'll get driving directions and maps to use as a reference before your trip begins.



- First turn on your Smartphone and launch CoPilot. In the My Stops screen, press Menu > Mode and select Planning.
- The My Starts & Stops screen will open. Press the Action key on <Add a Stop>, then add stops to your trip.



- In the Map screen, the View menu gives you a choice of three map views: Start Map (zoomed to your starting location), Last Stop Map (zoomed to your final destination), and Trip Map (zoomed out to show the whole route).
- Turn Instruction Mile PRoute 571 (Princ... 1.0 🖉 Windsor Center ... 0.6 0.1, Local 🙉 Local 0.1 Sindsor Center ... 0.3 POld Trenton Roa... 0.3 Route 571 West ... 5.5 PUS-1 North (Bru... 0.5 🖉 Harrison Street 1.5 Total: 12.6 mi, 0:28 hr View Menu
- 6. To see driving directions, press **View** and select **Itinerary**.



- You should enter stops in reverse order (destination first, origin last)

   the first stop in the My Starts & Stops list is the starting point of your trip. Press the Directions softkey when all stops have been entered to generate an Itinerary.
- 4. Now you'll see your route on the map.

130

Menu

# Trip Planning On Your Desktop



You can use CoPilot's desktop functions to map out routes and print maps and driving directions before getting on the road. Desktop trip planning is an additional feature of CoPilot that is in no way connected to using your Smartphone for route guidance.

On the following pages you will find brief descriptions of CoPilot's desktop trip planning capabilities. For more detailed descriptions, open CoPilot Help from the desktop application (**Help** menu > **Help Contents and Search**, or click the **Help** button on the toolbar). Go to **Desktop Trip Planning** in the **Contents** tab.

To begin planning a trip on your desktop, click the **Planning** icon in the sidebar to the left of the map. Using the drop-down menus you can select from a number of planning features. Many of these features can also be accessed from the toolbar. Place your cursor on any toolbar button without clicking to see what it does.



#### **New Trip**



New Trip button or New Trip in the File menu.

Jities and Addresses	Points of Interest Favorites Contacts	:
City, State or ZIP Co	de	-
J		
Address (ex. 67 Main	st)	÷,
	,	
Name (optional)		
Tunic (optional)		? Help
1		
Trip Itinerary		
		Add

Opens the *Trip Planner* window where you can create a new trip, arrange the order of stops on your route, add or edit **Favorites** (these can be downloaded to your Smartphone along with map data), search for **Points of Interest**, or use your **Contacts** database to add stops to your trip. Click **Run** to receive driving directions and a map.

#### **Run Trip**



#### Edit Trip



*Trip* in the **Trip** menu.



Takes you back to the *Trip Planner* window where you can edit stops on your existing trip or click **Clear** to delete all stops and begin a new trip.

**Save Trip** 



Save Trip button or Save Trip.../Save Trip As... in the File menu.

Save As				? ×
Save jn: 🔂	Save	•	<b>E</b> (	* 💷 •
LA to San F				
Princeton t	o Boston.trp			
File <u>n</u> ame:	Rochester to Buffalo trp		_ [	Save
File <u>n</u> ame: Save as <u>type</u> :			] [	<u>S</u> ave Cancel

Opens a standard Windows dialog where you can name your trip and save it to your hard drive either before or after running it in the Trip Planner.

#### Print



Print button or Print... in the File menu.

Print	<u>?×</u>
Printer	
<u>N</u> ame:	RD_Trips Properties
Status	: Default printer; Ready
Туре:	HP LaserJet 5Si/5Si MX PS
Where	: Alk
Comme	ent
Print ra	nge Copies
• <u>A</u> I	Number of copies:
O Pa	
O <u>S</u> e	
	OK Cancel

Takes you to the standard Windows Print options for printing the active window that contains your map or driving directions. Activate the map or directions by clicking on it or selecting it in the Window menu. Select Print TravPak... from the File menu to print driving directions, an overview map, and a zoomed map of each stop.

#### **Open Trip**



Opens a standard Windows dialog where you can select a saved trip to open in the Trip Planner window.

Help



Opens the CoPilot Help window with the Contents tab open on the left. From here you can search for help by topic, use the Index, or Search for a word or phrase.

#### Zoom In



**Zoom In** button or **Zoom In** in the **Map** menu.

Each time you click this button, your view will be zoomed in by one increment. The zoom level is shown in the title bar of the map window.



#### **More Detail**



More Detail button or Detail > Show More in the Map menu.

Click once to increase the level of detail you see on the map by one increment without changing the zoom level.



#### Zoom Out



Zoom Out button or Zoom Out in the Map menu.

Each time you click this button, your view will be zoomed out by one increment. The zoom level is shown in the title bar of the map window.



#### Less Detail



Less Detail button or Detail > Show Less in the Map menu.

Click once to decrease the level of detail you see on the map by one increment without changing the zoom level.



#### **Zoom To Region**



Zoom to Region button or Zoom Region in the Map menu. This function allows you to zoom your map view to a specific area. Choices in the sub-menu will depend on which CoPilot data region(s) were purchased.



#### **Pick Stops**



To turn on *Pick Stop* mode, click the **Pick Stops** button or right-click on the map and select *Pick Stops*. Then click on any point to enter it as a stop. Your map view must be zoomed in to level 11 or 12 (level is displayed in the CoPilot window title bar).

In the dialog that opens, you can choose to enter the point as a start place, a waypoint, or a destination.



#### **Refresh Map**



Refresh Map button or Refresh Map in the Map menu. When scrolling through a map you may notice it takes a few seconds for all the data to catch up. This function will snap the entire screen to a new map.



#### **Options (Tools Menu)**

down Tools menu.



Opti Interface Map General Live Point of Interest Symbol Display Group points of interest that are close together V OK Show names on points of interest other than cities X Cancel Grouped points of interest symbol C . . . ? Help Style Options F Small one way arrow More... Draw wide roads P Draw all roads

In this window you can change the way you view your desktop maps and various application settings. For example, in the **General** tab you can choose the measure of distance (miles vs. kilometers), and the **Map** tab lets you adjust the appearance of features on the map such as roads and points of interest.

#### Landmark Reporting



Select *Landmark Reporting* from the drop-down **Trip** menu.

In this window you can control how many landmarks CoPilot points out when generating driving directions.

#### **Help Menu**

#### Help

Help Contents and Search How To Use Help Our Web Site ... Online Support...

E-mail Data Corrections ...

Travel Information ... State Names ... Airport Names ...

About CoPilot ... License Information ... Registration ... System Information ... Use the drop-down **Help** menu to access CoPilot Help for assistance with all aspects of the software and to quickly access ALK's web site.

(For North America only) In this menu you will also find helpful travel links and a link to the ALK data corrections e-mail address. With street-level data changing every day, you may discover some errors. Please drop us an e-mail. With your help we will be able to improve our map data with every update.

# **Reference: CoPilot on Your Desktop**

The following is a guide to the main screens you will see as you use CoPilot on your desktop/laptop computer for trip planning.

#### **Map Window**



Menus and toolbar buttons to access all of CoPilot's desktop features.

- Click on a tab to frame any stop on your route.
- Your planned route with stops. Zoom to a stop and move your cursor over any street to see its name.

Distance Scale.

Latitude/longitude position of your cursor on the map.

#### Trip Planner Window (Cities & Addresses)



Click Cities and Addresses.

 Enter city name and state, or ZIP code. Enter an address (optional), with the option to add a Name to it. Click the Add Stop button to add the stop to the Itinerary.



 Move stops up or down on your *ltinerary*, zoom to a stop location on the map, delete a stop, or add a favorite.
 See p. 73 for routing options.

#### Trip Planner Window (Points of Interest)

Trip Planner			
Cities and Add	Iresses	Points of Interest Favorites Contacts	;
Category		tegories>	
of Type	<all th="" ty<=""><th>-</th><th></th></all>	-	
POIs that start with	[		
In City/State	Princet	on, NJ, Mercer	
Within	10	niles of the city	? Help
Trip Itinerar			
			Q 🔂
			X V
			Add <sub>Fav</sub>
🕃 <u>R</u> un	🌂 <u>C</u> lea	r <u>O</u> ptions Send	🗆 Round Trip

Name	Other Info	<b></b>
11 Thomas Sweet Chocolates	0.1	
🔟 2. The Alchemist & Barrister	0.1	
113. Triumph Brewing Company	0.1	
114. Panera	0.1	
🗹 5. Community Liquors	0.1	
116. Theresa's Caff	0.1	
7. Princeton- Borough Of	0.1	_
18 Winherries	0.1	
•		
Select Cancel	Map Cle	ar

Click Points of Interest tab.

Enter a city or ZIP code in which you would like to search, a radius within which to search, and choose a category and type from the drop-down menu.

You can also enter a name to narrow down the search in the **POIs that start with** box.

Click the binoculars to start the search.

You will be given a list of matches to your search criteria. Highlight your selection and click **Select**. Click the **Add Stop** button to add it to your Itinerary.



#### **Trip Planner Window (Favorites)**

Trip Planner	
Cities and Addresses Points of Interest Favorites Contacts	
10 Seaview Avenue, Ocean Grove, NJ, Monmouth	
29 Main Street, Red Bank, NJ, Monmouth 118 West Broadway, New York, NY, New York	
Favorite C Home C Work	
Trip Itinerary	
Add <sub>Fav</sub>	
Bun Clear Options Send Round Trip	

#### Select Favorites tab.

Highlight a selection from your list of places by clicking on it. You can zoom to it on the map, or *Delete* it from the list using the buttons to the right. Click the **Add Stop** button to add a favorite to your ltinerary.

See p. 73 for routing options.

#### **Trip Planner Window (Contacts)**



Enter a contact's first or last name and press <Enter>. CoPilot will search your Contacts database for matches.

Select the Contacts address type (as defined in Outlook) to get the appropriate address, then click the **Add Stop** button to add it to your Itinerary.



#### **Driving Directions and Map (Split Screen)**

When you click **Run** in the Trip Planner window, your route will be calculated and driving directions and a map will display. To print either one, click on it and choose **Print** from the **File** menu. To print directions plus all map views, choose **TravPak Printing**.

Atlas, Start, and End tabs will zoom to the map view of those places respectively. Driving directions give you turnby-turn instructions including ramps and exits, and distance and time between turns.



#### **Routing Options**



Advanced Rout	ing Options			×
A	void	Favor	Rural (mph)	Urban (mph)
Freeways	<u>;::::</u> 0 <del>::</del>	<u></u>	65 🜲	60
Divided Highways	<u></u>	· · · ·	47 🜲	35 🜲
Primary Highways	<del>::::</del> 0 <del>::</del>	· · · ·	35 🚖	30 🚖
Secondary Roads	<u>⊹::::</u> 0:::		33 🚖	25
Local Streets	<del>;::::</del> 0 <del>::</del>	· · · ·	20 👤	15 👤
Ferries	<u>⊹</u> 0	<u> 1</u>	5 🗢	5 🛊
	Cancel	~	OK	

Click the **Options** button in the Trip Planner window to access CoPilot routing options.

In the Trip Options window you can change various routing preferences. The **Routing Type** and **Routing Options** here are the same as the options on your mobile device (see p. 51-53).

The **Optimize** option affects how stops are ordered when you choose to optimize your list of stops for the most efficient stop order. **Keep destination** will keep the last stop fixed. Choose **Optimize all stops** to include the last stop in the optimization. The first stop always stays the same in an optimized route.

Under Units, choose to have route distances reported in **Miles** or **Kilometers**.

Click **Advanced** to set general road preferences.

 Drag the sliding bars to the left or right to avoid or favor each road type.

Set the road speeds CoPilot uses in its route calculations for each type of road by either typing or clicking the up and down arrows under **Rural** and **Urban** for each road type.

#### **Trip Summary**



**Select Run** in the *Trip Planner* window to run the trip.

- The *Trip Summary* will show start and end places, and the number of stops in between them.
- Total distance and time for trip.

Estimated fuel cost for your trip based on entries in the *Fuel Cost Calculator* (**Trip** menu).

Click **OK** to view map and driving directions.

#### **Fuel Cost Calculator**

Se Fuel Cost Estimate	_ [] >
Enter the following information. The estimated fuel cost for your trip will be dis the Trip Summary.	played in
Fuel Cost \$ 1 . 70 per gallon	
Average Fuel Efficiency 32 miles per gallon	
OK Cancel	

To calculate an estimate of your fuel costs for a trip, select **Fuel Cost Calculator** from the **Trip** menu before you run your route.

Fill in the average cost per gallon of fuel that you expect to pay, and the distance per gallon you can expect to get in your vehicle. Click **OK**, then run your trip. A fuel cost estimate based on what you entered will be calculated and shown in the Trip Summary that CoPilot creates for every trip you run.

# **Copilot Live Communications**

CoPilot Live allows you to maintain two-way communication with drivers who are using CoPilot and to actually see where they are currently located. You can do this using a computer with CoPilot installed or from our CoPilot Live web page.

Using this CoPilot Live functionality requires the following:

- If you want to track and message other drivers from a desktop or laptop computer: Your PC must be connected to the internet and CoPilot must be installed; or, if your computer does not have CoPilot installed, you must have access to our CoPilot Live web page through a normal web browser.
- 2) **If you want others to track and send messages to you:** CoPilot Live must be running on your Smartphone in your vehicle. You must have a wireless Internet connection.

#### About the CoPilot Live Web Page

As a CoPilot user, you can create an account on our website that allows your family, friends, and coworkers to "see" you and communicate with you anywhere in the world!

Through the website you can do all of the following:

- 1) Send text messages to CoPilot users on the road, using large, customizable, one-touch response buttons to ensure driver safety.
- 2) Real-time tracking of other people who are on the road. See their current location, destination, ETA and much more on a map.
- Send trip itinerary updates including new stops and revised destinations — you can coordinate a change in plans with someone who's on the road right now.
- 4) Create an online account from where you can send temporary or permanent tracking numbers to friends and family, giving you tighter control of the security so you know who has access to you while you're on the road. You can also create and join groups with other CoPilot users, and manage all your account preferences.

To see a demo and read more about CoPilot's Live capabilities, visit ALK's CoPilot Live web page at http://live.alk.com (North America) or http://live.alk.eu.com (Europe). Click the **Demo** or **Help** button at the top of the home page.

#### Setting Up a CoPilot Live Web Account

To use Live capabilities, your Smartphone must have a wireless Internet connection.

- 1. Create your account on the CoPilot Live web site.
  - a. Go to the web site for your region:
    - i. North America: http://live.alk.com/newaccount.aspx
    - ii. Europe: http://live.alk.eu.com/newaccount.aspx
  - b. Choose a username and password that you will use to login to the CoPilot Live network.
  - c. Fill in the rest of the required information.
  - d. Click "Submit" to create your account.

#### 2. Account maintenance

- a. You can log in to your account here:
  - i. North America: http://live.alk.com/login.aspx?user=
  - ii. Europe: http://live.alk.eu.com/login.aspx?user=
- b. Once logged in to your account, you can manage your user profile and Live Invitations.
- 3. Set up your Smartphone to log in to your CoPilot Live account.
  - a. Press Menu > Options, then press Live.
  - b. Press Login.
  - c. Check "Enable Live Messaging".
  - d. Enter your account information:
    - i. **Screen name:** enter a name that will identify you to the person on the other end for messaging and tracking.
    - ii. User name: Enter the user name you created in Step 1.
    - iii. Password: Enter the password you created in Step 1.
  - e. Press **Done**. You will have to **restart** your phone for these changes to take effect.

**NOTE:** Your screen name, user name, and/or password can be changed as many times as you like. However, you'll need to change your user name or password on the Live Web page *before* changing them in CoPilot. This is *not* required for your screen name.

- 4. Set up your desktop to log in to your CoPilot Live account.
  - a. Open the CoPilot desktop program.
  - b. Click **Tools**, then click **Options**.
  - c. Click on the Live tab.
  - d. Check "Enable Live Network".
  - e. Enter the user name and password you created on the web site.

You are now set up for messaging and tracking from within CoPilot in Live Mode or on the web!

#### Additional Options on the Smartphone

With CoPilot open on your Smartphone, do the following to access additional Live options:

- 1. Press Menu > Options, then press Live.
- 2. Available settings:
  - a. Hide Messages After: This setting determines the length of time a message will be displayed before it is automatically hidden. To retrieve a hidden message, press Menu > Options > Live > History.
  - b. **Broadcast Position Every:** This setting determines how frequently your GPS position is sent to the web site.
  - c. **Invitations:** You can email Live Invitations so others can go to the web site and view your location on a map and send you text and trip messages.
  - d. **History:** View messages that you chose to defer or were automatically hidden.

# **Real-Time Traffic Information**

In addition to providing users with pre-trip planning and GPS route guidance capabilities, CoPilot uses wireless communications to automatically send real-time information to drivers, notifying them of traffic incidents along the route ahead and potential alternate routes. As soon as the user selects a destination, CoPilot will provide dynamic driving directions and regularly updated traffic incident reports.

#### **Real-Time Traffic in Guidance Mode**

In Guidance Mode, CoPilot provides regularly updated traffic incident reports and alternate routes based on the user's destination and route ahead.

**NOTE:** In Guidance Mode CoPilot must have GPS acquisition, a userinputted destination, and Internet access in order to provide real-time traffic information.

#### **Traffic Options**

To configure traffic options, on your Smartphone select **Menu > Options >** Live > Traffic.

## **Traffic Icon Display**

CoPilot obtains traffic content from the server and displays the information in its maps and itinerary.

#### Map Display

Traffic incidents are displayed on the map as numbered, colored triangular icons. Any of the four icons below are used to reflect the location(s) and severity of traffic congestion where:



#### **Traffic Report Content**

Provided that CoPilot has GPS acquisition, a user-inputted destination, and access to the Internet, it will provide regularly updated traffic incident reports in Guidance Mode. As soon as the user selects a destination, CoPilot begins providing dynamic driving directions as well as regularly updated incident reports that include traffic incidents along the route ahead as well as potential alternate routes.

To configure traffic settings, on your Smartphone select **Menu > Options >** Live > Traffic.

#### **Check Traffic**

In addition to providing automatic traffic reports, CoPilot also allows users to manually check traffic on the route ahead. To manually check traffic, select **Menu > Traffic > Check Traffic**.

#### **Traffic Report**

Whether automatically provided by CoPilot or manually requested by the user, detailed traffic incident information is conveyed in the Traffic Report.

Incident severity is indicated by the colored bar at the top of the screen. See *Traffic Icon Display* (previous page) for an explanation of the four colors and their corresponding severity levels.

CoPilot details the number of traffic incidents detected, the particular incident being referenced, as well as the distance from your current location or inputted origin to that incident.

Press **1** to **Avoid** the incident or **2** to **Ignore** it. Press **Done** to calculate the new route. CoPilot will use your default incident action for unviewed incidents.

#### **Clear Traffic**

To remove all Traffic routing, select Menu > Traffic > Clear Traffic.



Traffic report showing severe congestion 17.7 miles ahead.

"Avoid" had been selected, and CoPilot will now route around this congestion.

# **Technical Support**

After registering your software (see below), you're entitled to technical support and discounts on new versions of CoPilot Truck | Mobile. Check out ALK's web site for technical support documentation and posted answers to common questions. If the web site does not provide an answer to your question, technical support for registered users is available during standard business hours (9:00 am - 5:00 pm Monday-Friday). You should be at your computer and have your **Installation Product Key** available when you contact us (this code can be found on the front cover of the printed *Quick Start* that came with the product or on the supplied Product Key card).

Please be sure to reach us using the contact information for your region shown below. We are sorry, but our support staff in ALK's regional offices cannot respond to requests for assistance outside the areas they serve.

North America - Web: www.alk.com, E-mail: cptsupport@alk.com, Fax: 609-252-8166, Phone: 800-377-6453

- Europe Web: www.alk.eu.com, E-mail: uksupport@alk.eu.com, Postal: Suite 8, 4 Bloomsbury Square, London WC1A 2RP, UK Phone: +44 (0)207 404 4222
- Australia Web: www.travroute.com.au/support.html, E-mail: support@travroute.com.au, Phone: 03-9855-1498

# **Using Help Files**

CoPilot provides extensive Help Files, available on your desktop/laptop and your Smartphone, to guide you through the program as you use it.

To access Help on your Smartphone, once the CoPilot application is launched, press **Menu > Help**.

In the desktop application, click on the **Help** button in any window to open a Help topic that describes how to use that window, or use the **Help** menu.

# **Software Registration**

Registered users are entitled to technical support, discounts on new versions of CoPilot, new product information, and software enhancements.

**NOTE:** Software activation does NOT register your software, they are two separate processes.

In North America: Go to www.alk.com and click "Support Center" In Europe: Go to www.alk.eu.com and click "Support Center".